SUPREME COURT NO. 93887-3

NO. 47581-2-II

	STATE OF WASHINGTON,
	Respondent.
	v.
	WYATT SEWARD,
	Petitioner.
	PPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE FOR WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY
- See See See See See See See See See Se	The Honorable Gary R. Tuber, Judge The Honorable Anne Hirsch, Judge
	PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC J. NIELSEN Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Do RCW 43.43.7541, RCW 7.68.035 and RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) violate substantive due process when applied to defendants who have not been found to have the likely ability to pay mandatory fees?
- 2. Given Washington's current legal financial obligation (LFO) enforcement scheme, do this Court's holdings in <u>State v. Curry</u> and <u>State v. Blank</u>² require that in order to satisfy constitutional due process, trial courts must conduct an ability-to-pay inquiry at the time statutorily mandated LFOs are imposed?
- 3. Is the criminal filing fee, which is authorized under RCW 36.18.020(2)(h), a mandatory fee?

^{1 118} Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992).

² 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997).

D. REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3), because Seward's substantive due process challenge raises a significant question of law under U.S. Const. amends. V. XIV, § I and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because Seward's substantive due process challenge raises an issue this Court recognizes as one of substantial public interest. See, State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 835, 344 P.3d 680 (2015) (noting there are "[n]ational and local cries for reform of broken LFO systems"). An LFO order imposes an immediate debt upon a defendant subjecting him to a myriad of penalties arising from enforced collection efforts. The societal hardships created by the erroneous imposition of LFOs cannot be understated.

A study by the Washington State Minority and Justice Commission concludes that for many people, erroneously imposed LFOs result in a horrible chain of events:

reducing income and worsening credit ratings, both of which make it more difficult to secure stable housing, hindering efforts to obtain employment, education, and occupational training, reducing eligibility for federal benefits, creating incentives to avoid work and/or hide from the authorities; ensnarling some in the criminal justice system; and making it more difficult to secure a certificate of discharge, which in turn prevents people from restoring their civil rights and applying to seal one's criminal record.

The Assessment and Consequences of Legal Financial Obligations in Washington State. Washington State Minority and Justice Commission at 4-5 (2008)³; see also, Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 682-84 (acknowledging these hardships). These realities amply demonstrate that the judicial review of Washington laws authorizing the mandatory imposition of LFO debt is an issue of substantial public interest.

The issue of whether RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) is a mandatory fee has never been definitively decided by this Court and is an issue of substantial public importance that also warrants review. RAP 13.4 (b)(4).

E. RELEVANT FACTS

Seward, who is indigent, pleaded guilty to second degree assault. The court imposed a 120 month exceptional (CP 28) and ordered Seward to pay the following LFOs: (1) \$200 criminal filing fee; (2) \$500 victim's assessment (VPA) fee; and (3) \$100 DNA collection fee. CP 20-21. The court did not conduct an inquiry on Seward's ability to pay those financial obligations. The court also ordered Seward pay restitution in the amount of \$28,563.84. CP 41-42.

On appeal, Seward argued the Legislative mandate that trial courts impose a DNA. VPA and filing fees on all defendants violates substantive due process when applied to those lacking the likely ability to pay. It is

³ See: http://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/2008LFO_report.pdf

irrational to attempt to effectively fund a DNA database, victim's services compensate court clerks for their official services by imposing fees on someone who cannot pay. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 3-12: Supplemental Brief of Appellant (SBA) at 2-5. In his Supplemental Brief Seward argued the filing fee authorized under RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) was discretionary and the court erred by failing to conduct an inquiry into Seward's ability to pay the fee. SBA 5-8.

In its published decision, the Division Two majority rejected Seward's due process argument. It reviewed Seward's due process challenge under the rational bases test. Appendix at 4 (citing, Nielsen v. Dep't of Licensing, 177 Wn.App. 45, 53, 309 P.3d 1221 (2013)). The majority held that the mandatory imposition of the DNA, VPA and filing fees without an inquiry into the ability to pay is rationally related to legitimate state interests in two ways.

First, it reasoned the state has a legitimate interest in creating funding sources and the imposition of the fees on all offenders creates that source, even though some offenders will be unable to pay the fees. Appendix at 5. Second, it reasoned imposing the fees on indigent offenders at the time of sentencing is also rationally related to creating funding sources because "the defendant's indigency may not always exist." Id. The majority concluded, therefore, "it is not unreasonable to

believe that imposing these fees and assessments on all indigent offenders would result in some funding for these purposes." Appendix at 5-6.

Chief Judge Bjorgen dissented. Judge Bjorgen did not disagree that Seward's due process challenge is analyzed under the rational basis test, which requires a rational relationship between the challenged law and a legitimate state interest. Appendix at 9 (citing, Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 222, 143 P.3d 571 (2006). Judge Bjorgen also agreed with the majority that the purpose of mandatory LFO's is to raise money to help fund elements of the criminal justice system and that is a legitimate state interest. Id. However, he reasoned "requiring monetary payments from those who cannot and will not be able to pay them does nothing to serve that purpose." Appendix at 9. Judge Bjorgen looked to this Court's decision in Blazina and concluded that without the same individualized determination of the ability to pay mandatory fees as is required for discretionary fees the imposition of mandatory fees has no rational relationship to the purpose for the fees. Id.

Without the individualized determination required by *Blazina* for discretionary LFOs, mandatory LFOs will be imposed in many instances on those who have no hope of ever paying them. In those instances, the levy of mandatory LFOs has no relation to its purpose. In those instances, the only consequence of mandatory LFOs is to harness those assessed them to a growing debt that they realistically have no ability to pay, keeping them in

the orbit of the criminal justice system and within the gravity of temptations to reoffend that our system is designed to still. Levying mandatory LFOs against those who cannot pay them thus increases the system costs they were designed to relieve. In those instances, the assessment of mandatory LFOs not only fails wholly to serve its purpose, but actively contradicts that purpose. The self-contradiction in such a system crosses into an arbitrariness that not even the rational basis test can tolerate.

Appendix at 10 (Bjorgen, C.J. dissent).

F. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE WHETHER RCW 43.43.754. **RCW** 7.68.035 AND RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL **SIGNIFICANT** ISSUE OF LAW UNDER CONSTITUTION AND IS OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DECIDED BY THIS COURT.1

Unless this Court issues a decision explicitly declaring RCW 43.43.7541, RCW 7.68.035 and RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) unconstitutional as applied, trial courts will continue on a daily basis to mandatorily impose the fees authorized by these statutes on destitute defendants, which serves only to exacerbate their indigence and the resulting costs to society. The public has a substantial interest in avoiding these costs, and therefore review is warranted under RAP 13.4 (b)(4).

-6-

⁴ Counsel believes that requests to this Court to review substantially the same issue are pending in Cause No.'s 93420-7, 93712-5, 93603-0,93629-3, 93770-2 and 93487-8.

Both the Washington and United States Constitutions mandate that no person may be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amends. V. XIV, § 1; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. "The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment confers both procedural and substantive protections." <u>Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals</u>, 158 Wn.2d at 216 (citation omitted).

"Substantive due process protects against arbitrary and capricious government action even when the decision to take action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." <u>Id.</u> at 218–19. It requires that "deprivations of life, liberty, or property be substantively reasonable;" in other words, such deprivations are constitutionally infirm if not "supported by some legitimate justification." <u>Nielsen v. Washington State Dep't of Licensing</u>, 177 Wn.App. at 52-53 (citing Russell W. Galloway, Jr., <u>Basic Substantive Due Process Analysis</u>, 26 U.S.F. L.Rev. 625, 625–26 (1992)).

The level of review applied to a substantive due process challenge depends on the nature of the right affected. <u>Johnson v. Washington Dep't of Fish & Wildlife</u>, 175 Wn.App. 765, 775, 305 P.3d 1130 (2013). Where a fundamental right is not at issue, as is the case here, the rational basis standard applies. <u>Nielsen</u>, 177 Wn.App. at 53-54. To survive rational basis scrutiny, the regulation must be rationally related to a legitimate state interest. <u>Id</u>.

Although the rational basis standard is a deferential one, it is not meaningless. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has cautioned the rational basis test "is not a toothless one." Mathews v. DeCastro, 429 U.S. 181, 185, 97 S.Ct. 431, 50 L.Ed.2d 389 (1976). As this Court has explained, "the court's role is to assure that even under this deferential standard of review the challenged legislation is constitutional." DeYoung v. Providence Med. Ctr., 136 Wn.2d 136, 144, 960 P.2d 919 (1998) (determining that statute at issue did not survive rational basis scrutiny); Nielsen, 177 Wn. App. at 61 (same). Statutes that do not rationally relate to a legitimate State interest must be struck down as unconstitutional under the substantive due process clause. Id.

RCW 43.43.7541 mandates all felony defendants pay the DNA fee. On its face, this mandate appears to rationally serve the State's interest in funding the collection, analysis, and retention of a convicted offender's DNA profile. RCW 43.43.752-7541. However, as applied to defendants who lack the likely ability to pay, the mandatory imposition of this fee does not rationally serve this interest or any legitimate state interest.

RCW 7.68.035 mandates that all convicted defendants pay a \$500 VPA. On its face, this serves the State's interest in funding "comprehensive programs to encourage and facilitate testimony by the victims of crimes and witnesses to crimes." RCW 7.68.035(4). Again,

however, while this may be a legitimate interest, there is nothing reasonable about funding a victim's services program by imposing fees on those who do not have the ability – or likely future ability – to pay.

Under RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) convicted defendants can be ordered to pay a \$200 filing fee. Presumably the purpose of this fee is to reimburse the state for costs associated with filing a case. While this too may be a legitimate interest, there is nothing reasonable about defraying the state's cost to file a criminal case against the defendant by imposing fees on those same defendants who do not have the ability to pay.

First, imposing these fees on indigent persons does not rationally serve a legitimate financial interest. As this Court recently emphasized, "the state cannot collect money from defendants who cannot pay." Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 837. When applied to indigent defendants, the fees are not only pointless, but as Judge Bjorgen explains "increases the system costs they were designed to relieve." Appendix at 10. There is no way to effectively fund victim services, the DNA database or the costs of filing a criminal case by imposing fees a defendant cannot ever pay. ⁵

⁵ The government acknowledged the fiscal futility of imposing a mandatory DNA fee upon indigent persons when, in 2009, the Legislature made the DNA collection fee mandatory rather than discretionary, despite recognition it would do little to help fund the database:

This bill will...require all felony offenders to pay the full amount of the \$100 fee, no longer allowing the court to reduce the fee for findings of undue hardship. However, the collection rate is expected to be very

Second, as this Court recognizes, the State's interest in deterring crime via enforced LFOs is not rationally served. <u>Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d at 837. This interest is instead undermined because imposing LFOs on indigent persons inhibits re-entry into society and "increase[s] the chances of recidivism." Id. at 836-37.

Third, the State's interest in uniform sentencing is not rationally served by imposing mandatory LFOs on persons lacking the ability to pay. This is because defendants who cannot pay are subject to lengthier involvement with the justice system and often pay considerably more LFO debt than defendants who can pay off the fees quickly. <u>Id.</u>

Finally, the State's interest in enhancing offender accountability is not served. In order to foster accountability, a sentencing condition must be something that is achievable. If it is not, the condition actually undermines efforts to hold a defendant accountable.

Judge Bjorgen's dissent succinctly identifies how the imposition of mandatory LFO's on defendants who do not have the ability to pay undermines the criminal justice system: "[T]he only consequence of mandatory LFOs is to harness those assessed them to a growing debt that

low for these cases, so it is assumed there will be no significant change to revenue for felony matters.

Washington State Office of Financial Management, <u>Multiple Agency Fiscal Note Summary</u>, 2.S.H.B. 2713 (3/28/2008).

they realistically have no ability to pay, keeping them in the orbit of the criminal justice system and within the gravity of temptations to reoffend that our system is designed to still." Appendix at 10.

In sum, there is no rational basis for imposing mandatory DNA-collection, VPA, or filing fees on defendants who cannot pay. As such, RCW 43.43.7541, RCW 7.68.035 and violate substantive due process as applied to these individuals.

The majority in <u>Seward</u> also rejected Seward's argument that RCW 10.01.160(3) requires the court consider a defendant's ability to pay before imposing mandatory LFO's. Appendix at 7. This Court's decisions in <u>Curry</u> and its progeny <u>Blank</u>, however, support Seward's position that an ability-to-pay inquiry must occur at the time the mandatory fees are imposed in light of the realities of Washington's current LFO collection scheme.

Currently. Washington's laws provide for an elaborate and aggressive collections process that includes: the immediate assessment of interest; enforced collections methods through a variety of different entities; and the authorization of numerous additional sanctions and penalties. It is a vicious cycle of penalties and sanctions that has devastating effects on the persons involved in the process and, often, their families. See, Alexes Harris et al., Drawing Blood from Stones: Legal

Debt and Social Inequality in the Contemporary United States. 115 Am. J. Soc. 1753. (2010) (reviewing the LFO cycle in Washington and its damaging impact on those who do not have the ability to pay). Importantly, this cycle does not conform to the necessary constitutional safeguards established by this Court in Curry and Blank.

In <u>Blank</u>, this Court held that "monetary assessments which are mandatory <u>may</u> be imposed against defendants without a per se constitutional violation." <u>Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d at 240 (emphasis added). It reasoned that fundamental fairness concerns only arise if the government seeks to enforce collection of the assessment and the defendant is unable, though no fault of his own, to comply. <u>Id</u>. at 241 (referring to <u>Curry</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 917-18).

This Court also noted, however, that the constitutionality of Washington's LFO statutes was dependent on trial courts conducting an ability-to-pay inquiry at certain key times. Blank thus makes clear that in order for Washington's LFO system to pass constitutional muster, the courts must conduct an ability-to-pay inquiry: (1) before "enforced" collection; (2) prior to any additional "penalty" for nonpayment; and (3) before any other "sanction" for nonpayment is imposed." Blank, 131 Wn.2d at 242. Unfortunately, neither the Legislature nor the trial courts are currently complying with Blank's directives.

Given Washington's current LFO collection scheme, the only way to effectively comply with <u>Blank</u>'s due process requirements is for sentencing courts to conduct a meaningful ability-to-pay inquiry at the time LFOs are imposed. Although <u>Blank</u> noted that prior case law "suggests" that such an inquiry is not required at sentencing, this Court was not confronted with the realities of the State's current collection scheme in that case.

Today, Washington's LFO system consists of a complicated patchwork of enforced collection procedures and a myriad of penalties and sanctions before which there is no inability-to-pay inquiry. The reality is that onerous and relentless enforced collection procedures, sanctions, and penalties may begin long before an indigent person is faced with imprisonment for failure to pay.

Under RCW 10.82.090(1), LFOs accrue interest at a rate of 12 percent – an astounding level given the historically low interests rates of the last several years. <u>Blazina</u>, 182 Wn. 2d at 836 (citing Travis Stearns, <u>Legal Financial Obligations: Fulfilling the Promise of Gideon by Reducing the Burden</u>, 11 Seattle J. Soc. Just. 963, 967 (2013). Interest on LFOs accrues from the date of judgment. RCW 10.82.090. This mechanism of enforcement has been identified as particularly invidious because it further burdens people who do not have the ability to pay with

mounting debt and ensnarls them in the criminal justice system for what might be decades. See Blazina, 182 at 836 (citation omitted) (explaining that on average, a person who pays \$25 per month toward their LFOs will owe the State more 10 years after conviction than they did when the LFOs were initially assessed.). There is no requirement for the courts to conduct an inquiry into ability to pay before interest is assessed upon unpaid mandatory LFOs.

Washington law also authorizes an annual fee of up to \$100 to go to the court clerk for any unpaid account. RCW 36.18.016 (29). There is no ability to pay inquiry before this additional sanction is imposed.

Washington law permits courts to use private collection agencies or county collection services to actively enforce collection of LFOs. RCW 19.16.500; 36.18.190. There is nothing in the statutes that prohibits the courts from using collection services immediately after sentencing. The defendant pays any penalties or additional fees these agencies assess. Id. And, when accounts are assigned to such agencies, the court clerks may impose a transfer fee equal to "the full amount of the debt up to one hundred dollars per account." RCW 19.16.500. Yet, there is no requirement that an ability-to-pay inquiry occur before court clerks utilize this mechanism of enforcement to collect mandatory LFOs. Id.

Washington law also permits courts to order "payroll deduction." RCW 9.94A.760(3). This can be done immediately upon sentencing. RCW 9.94A.760(3). Beyond the actual deduction to cover the outstanding LFO payments, employers are authorized to deduct other fees from the employee's earnings. RCW 9.94A.7604(4). This constitutes an enforced collection process with additional sanctions and too there is no provision requiring an ability-to-pay inquiry before this collection mechanism is used.

These examples show that under Washington's current LFO system, there are many instances where the Legislature provides for "enforced collection" and/or additional sanctions or penalties without first requiring an ability-to-pay inquiry. Some of these collection mechanisms may be used immediately after the judgment is entered. If the constitutional requirements set forth in <u>Curry</u> and <u>Blank</u> are to be met under the current LFO collection scheme, trial courts must conduct an ability-to-pay inquiry when any LFOs are imposed.

This Court should grant review to decide these important and significant due process and public issues and to put an end to these fees without regard to a defendant's ability to pay. RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4).

2. REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE WHETHER RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) IS A MANDATORY FEE IS OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DECIDED BY THIS COURT.

In his Supplemental Brief of Appellant. Seward argued the criminal filing fee authorized in RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) is not mandatory and the trial court erred by imposing that fee with conducted an ability to pay inquiry before imposing the fee. SBA 5-8. The Seward court refused to address the issue finding that it was newly raised. Appendix at 2, n. 7. If this Court accepts review it should address this issue as well because without a definitive holding by this Court on whether RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) is a mandatory or discretionary fee the issue will continue to surface in future cases.

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