RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

4/27/2017 2:41 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93887-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

WYATT SEWARD,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Gary R. Tabor, Judge The Honorable Anne Hirsch, Judge Cause No. 13-1-01458-4

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT.

Respondent State of Washington was also the respondent in the Court of Appeals.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

The petitioner is seeking review of <u>State v. Seward</u>, 196 Wn. App. 579, 384 P.3d 620 (2016), entered on November 1, 2016. The State incorporates herein by reference the briefs it filed in the Court of Appeals in this case.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. Whether RCW 43.43.7541, RCW 7.68.035, and RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) violate substantive due process as applied to defendants whom the trial court has not found to have the likely ability to pay mandatory fees.
- 2. Whether this Court's holdings in <u>State v. Curry</u>¹ and <u>State v. Blank</u>² require that trial courts inquire into a defendant's ability to pay at the time mandatory legal financial obligations are imposed.
- 3. Whether the criminal filing fee required under RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) is a mandatory fee.

^{1 118} Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992).

^{2 131} Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997)

D. ARGUMENT.

1. This court should not accept review of the question of substantive due process because well-established law has already answered that question, and the petitioner has not offered any persuasive reason to change the law.³

Seward argues that his due process challenge raises a significant question of Constitutional law which is of substantial public interest, thus justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4). While the question may be of substantial public interest, it has already been addressed by this Court and Seward offers no persuasive reason why the well-settled law should be changed. In a nutshell, he argues that even imposing certain legal financial obligations (LFOs) on defendants found to be statutorily indigent violates substantive due process because it does not rationally serve a legitimate public interest. He specifically challenges RCW 7.68.035 (\$500 victim penalty assessment), RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) (convicted defendant liable for a \$200 filing fee), and RCW 43.43.7541 (\$100 DNA fee).

Statutes are presumed constitutional. The party challenging a statute bears a heavy burden of proving the statute

³ Seward has listed six cases which he believes are pending petitions for review in this court concerning this same issue. Review has been denied in five of those cases. In <u>State v. Robert Lee Tyler</u>, 93770-2, the court has stayed the case pending a decision in another case. The issue there does not concern LFOs.

unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d at 235. If at all possible statutes should be construed to be constitutional. <u>Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals</u>, 158 Wn.2d 208, 215, 143 P.3d 571 (2006).

Substantive due process forbids certain arbitrary, capricious government actions regardless of the fairness of the procedures used to implement them. Amunrud, 158 Wn.2d at 219. The level of review depends on the nature of the right at issue. Id. Seward concedes that he is not claiming violation of a fundamental right, and therefore the standard of review is a rational basis. Id. at 222. He further concedes that the challenged statutes rationally serve the State's interest in funding important services, but argues that as applied to indigent defendants that legitimate interest is not served. He does not offer any substantial reason why this court should reconsider the holdings in Curry and Blank.

a. Indigency.

Seward states that he is indigent. Presumably that is based on the fact that he received a publicly-funded attorney in the trial and appellate courts. RCW 10.73.150. For that purpose, indigency is defined in RCW 10.101.010(3) as a person receiving certain types of public assistance, being involuntarily committed to a

mental health facility, having an annual income of less than 125 per cent of the federal poverty level, or having insufficient available funds to retain counsel.

In State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014), this court reiterated that the United States Constitution⁴ requires only that the trial court inquire into a defendant's ability to pay before he or she is confined for non-willful failure to pay LFOs. Id. at 552. Only constitutionally indigent defendants are excused from the obligation to pay. Id. at 553, citing to Blank and Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1983). While there is no precise definition of "constitutional indigence," it is more than poverty but less than "absolute destitution." It is not the same as statutory indigence. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d. at 553, 555. The constitution does not forbid all hardship. Id. at 555. While a court may not incarcerate an offender who truly cannot pay LFOs, the defendant must make a good faith effort to satisfy those obligations by seeking employment, borrowing money, or raising money in any other lawful manner. Bearden, 461 U.S. at 668; State v. Woodward, 116 Wn. App. 697, 703-704, 67 P.3d 530 (2003).

⁴ The Washington due process clause does not give greater protection than the 14th Amendment. State v. McCormick, 166 Wn.2d 689, 699, 213 P.3d 32 (2009); Amunrud, 158 Wn.2d at 216 n. 2.

Seward has not distinguished between statutory and constitutional indigency. Statutory indigency does not necessarily mean the defendant is constitutionally indigent nor does an inquiry at the time of sentencing have, in most cases, any real chance of predicting the ability to pay at some future time when the State attempts to collect LFOs. It is simply more logical to make the inquiry at the time of collection rather than the time of imposition.

b. The statutory collection process is not as draconian as Seward portrays it.

Seward argues that aggressive enforced collections begin immediately, including "the authorization of numerous additional penalties and sanctions." Petition for Review at 11. He mentions the immediate assessment of interest. Id. RCW 10.82.090(1) provides that interest begins on the date of judgment, but it does not require immediate collection. RCW 10.82.090(2)(e), provides that the court *shall* waive all interest on LFOs other than restitution that accrues while the offender is in custody, upon a showing that it creates a hardship for the defendant or his or her family. Interest on restitution may be reduced once the principal is paid. RCW 10.82.090(2)(b). If the defendant can show a good faith effort to pay interest on non-restitution LFOs, the court may reduce or waive

the interest. RCW 10.82.090(2)(c). It is true that obtaining a reduction or waiver of interest requires some effort on the part of the offender. RCW 10.92.090(c),(d). It is not, however, the automatic and crushing burden that Seward portrays.

There are a number of statutes which protect defendants from the parade of horribles that Seward suggests. For example, if the defendant is under supervision of the Department of Corrections (DOC), the Department may either modify the payment schedule or recommend to the court that it be modified when circumstances change. RCW 9.94A.760(7)(a). If DOC is not involved, the clerk's office may recommend changes to the payment schedule. RCW 9.94A.760(7)(b). Payroll deductions are limited to 25 per cent of disposable earnings. RCW 9.94A.7603(1). The offender may bring a motion to quash, modify, or terminate payroll deductions if he demonstrates hardship. RCW 9.94A.7605.

There is a statute which allows for payroll deduction. RCW 9.94A.7605(1). The same statute allows the offender to file a motion in superior court to quash, modify, or terminate such a deduction. It logically follows that if one has a wage, one has an income from which one can pay something toward LFOs.

There are statutory mechanisms to ensure that monthly payments are based on the offender's ability to pay. collection is attempted an inquiry into the offender's ability to pay is done administratively, either by the Department of Corrections or the clerk's office. RCW 9.94A.760(5)-(7). A wage assignment is achieved through a petition and court order. RCW 9.94A.7701. The amount withheld for legal financial obligations from one or more judgments is capped at 25 percent of the offender's wages. RCW 9.94A.7703(2),(3). Likewise, an employer's service fee is capped at a minimal amount. RCW 9.94A.7705(4). An offender who is subject to a wage assignment may petition the court to quash, modify, or terminate the order upon showing that the order causes extreme hardship or substantial injustice. RCW 9.94A.7708.

These protections weaken Seward's argument that it is unconstitutional to impose the challenged costs or assessments without an inquiry into the defendant's ability to pay at the time they are imposed. There is little, if any, danger that anyone will be sanctioned for failing to pay LFOs because of inability to pay. The money may be collected earlier than the offender would like, but that is not a sanction or a penalty.

c. The constitution forbids incarcerating an offender for a non-willful failure to pay. It does not forbid collection efforts.

Washington courts, as well as federal courts, have consistently held that it is incarceration for non-willful debt that is prohibited by the constitution.

It is at the point of enforced collection . . . where an indigent may be faced with the alternatives of payment or imprisonment, that he "may assert a constitutional objection on the ground of his indigency."

Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 917, citing to the Court of Appeals opinion which quoted United States v. Pagan, 785 F.2d 378, 381-82 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1017 (1986); Blank, 131 WN.2d 230, 241. "Due process precludes the jailing of an offender for failure to pay a fine if the offender's failure to pay was due to his or her indigence." State v. Mathers, 193 Wn. App. 913, 927, 376 P.3d 1163, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1015, 380 P.3d 482 (2016), citing to State v. Nason, 168 Wn.2d 936, 845, 233 P.3d 848 (2010). "The due process clause protects an indigent offender from incarceration based solely on inability to pay court ordered fees." State v. Shelton, 194 Wn. App. 660, 670, 378 P.3d 230 (2016), review denied, 187 Wn.2d 1002, 386 P.3d 1088 (2017).

Seward discusses many of the State's collection procedures and the financial impact those have on convicted defendants, but he makes no claim that any of these individuals have been incarcerated for failure to pay. He asks this court to hold that the constitution requires an inquiry into the defendant's ability to pay, many times far into the future, before the specified LFOs are imposed, only because of possible or probable financial strain on the offender, not because he has been incarcerated or threatened with incarceration. Failure to make such an inquiry is not of constitutional magnitude. State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 840, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), J. Fairhurst, concurring.

d. If it is the State's collection efforts that are causing the hardship on offenders, then the statutes authorizing those efforts should be challenged, not the constitutionality of imposing LFOs on indigent defendants in the first place.

Seward argues that Washington's LFO statutes are constitutional only if ability-to-pay inquiries are made at key times, and one of those times must be before the LFOs are imposed. Petition for Review at 12. It does not logically follow that a failure to inquire about ability to pay at sentencing affects the constitutionality of the collection statutes themselves. However, if that were the case, then it seems that his challenge should be to the statutes, not

to the absence of a pre-imposition inquiry into the defendant's ability to pay the filing fee, the DNA fee, and the crime victim assessment.

e. A broken system is not the same as an unconstitutional system.

The LFO systems in this state, as well as others, may well be "broken," as this court said in Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 827. But a broken system is not the same as an unconstitutional system. In Blank, the court said that "it is nearly impossible to predict ability to pay over a period of 10 years or longer." 131 Wn.2d at 230. It makes no sense that the constitution would require that a court must make a determination that the statutorily indigent defendant being sentenced is, or will be, constitutionally indigent at some point far into the future. While Seward's focus is on the financial impact to those who have been convicted of crimes, he still acknowledges that the challenged LFOs have the rational purpose of funding important services or programs. It is not unfair to require those who committed crimes to shoulder at least some of the financial burden they have placed on their victims, as well as society as a whole, rather than expecting the taxpayers to carry the entire load. Those taxpayers may well have to sacrifice to pay the

taxes that allow an indigent defendant, who may be just as able to pay at least part of his LFOs, an escape from financial responsibility.

2. Whether RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) imposes a mandatory cost is not of sufficient public importance to warrant review, particularly as it applies in this case.

Seward is correct that this court has never specifically held that the filing fee is mandatory and can be imposed without an inquiry into the defendant's ability to pay. The Court of Appeals, however, has repeatedly said that it is. State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96,102,110, 308 P.3d 755 (2013); State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. App. 420, 425, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013); State v. Clark, 191 Wn. app. 369, 374, 362 P.3d 309 (2015); State v. Clark, 195 Wn. App. 868, 872, 381 P.3d 198 (2016); State v. Malone, 193 Wn. App. 762, 763, 376 P.3d 443 (2016); State v. Gonzales, 198 Wn. App. 151, _____ P.3d (2017).

Seward asserts that this court "appeared skeptical" that the filing fee was mandatory in <u>State v. Duncan</u>, 185 Wn.2d 430, 437 n.3, 734 P.3d 83 2016). Petition for Review at 18. In that footnote the court merely mentioned that the Court of Appeals had found it to be so. There is, however, no authority to the contrary.

This case is not the best vehicle for deciding that question. In addition to the filing fee, DNA fee, and victim assessment, Seward was ordered to pay restitution of \$28,563.84. Petition for Review at 3. Restitution is mandatory and may not be reduced because of an inability to pay. RCW 9.94A.753(4). Restitution is to be paid before any other monetary obligations. RCW 9.94A.760. Before the \$200 filing fee even becomes an issue for Seward, he will have paid at least \$28, 563.84.

A defendant always has the opportunity to seek relief from legal financial obligations.

RCW 10.01.160(4): A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof. If it appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family, the court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.

If a court finds at a later time that the costs will impose a manifest hardship, it has the authority to modify the monetary obligations. <u>Curry</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 914. Courts may refuse to address a request for remission until the State attempts to collect the financial obligations. <u>State v. Bertrand</u>, 165 Wn. App. 393, 405,

267 P.3d 511 (2011), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012). If, when the State eventually tries to collect the filing fee, Seward is constitutionally indigent, he can seek remission of that amount. He will suffer no incarceration because of inability to pay.

Seward does not present a compelling reason for this court to accept review of the question of the nature of the filing fee in this case.

E. CONCLUSION.

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State respectfully asks this court to deny Seward's petition for review.